IN THE\SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

RICHARD SANDER, JOE HICKS, CALIFORNIA FIRST AMENDMENT COALITION

JUL 19 2011

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

v.

Deputy

THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA and the BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Three Case No. A128647, Reversing a Judgment Entered by the Superior Court for the County of San Francisco, Case No. CPF-08-508880, The Honorable Curtis E.A. Karnow presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

STARR BABCOCK (63473)
LAWRENCE C. YEE (84208)
RACHEL S. GRUNBERG (197080)

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Given the State Bar's role as the "administrative assistant to or adjunct of" this Court in attorney admissions, must this Court exercise its exclusive and plenary jurisdiction in this area and make the policy decision regarding public disclosure requirements of State Bar admissions records?
- 2. Should State Bar admissions records be subject to the well-established limits regarding public access to judicial branch records?
- 3. If not, does California common law create a presumptive right of public access to all information in the possession of the State Bar despite: (a) the traditional common law test limiting presumptive access to records of official acts of government; and (b) the Legislature's decision to exempt all Article VI agencies (including the State Bar) from the Public Records Act?
- 4. If the admissions database is not a public record under the common law, does Evidence Code section 1040 nonetheless establish a standard for public access to that database?
- 5. If the admissions database is not a public record under the common law, does Article I section 3 of the California Constitution

(hereinafter "Proposition 59") nonetheless make that database subject to presumptive public disclosure?

II. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO CLARIFY IMPORTANT JURISDICTIONAL AND SUBSTANTIVE LEGAL ISSUES

Appellants originally brought their petition in this Court pursuant to this Court's original and exclusive jurisdiction over matters concerning the admission of applicants. (*Sander v. State Bar*, S165765.) While opposing the petition, the State Bar concurred that it was a matter within this Court's original and exclusive jurisdiction. This Court, however, denied that earlier petition "without prejudice to re-filing in an appropriate court." The petition was then re-filed in Superior Court, appealed to the Court of Appeal, and the same issue is now again before this Court.

The State Bar respectfully suggests that the proceedings below, and particularly the Court of Appeal's misunderstanding of the State Bar's *sui generis* role as an arm of this Court, and erroneous assertion that the State Bar's admissions records are not court records, demonstrate the necessity of this Court maintaining its primary jurisdiction over the disposition of records obtained by the State Bar in the course of assisting this Court in its exclusive and plenary control over admission to the practice of law in California. Thus, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(2), review should be granted to clarify jurisdiction over requests for and access to State Bar admissions records.

In addition, this case presents several important and unsettled questions regarding public access to the admissions records of the State Bar (and by extension, to the records of similar judicial branch entities such as the Commission on Judicial Performance and the Commission on Judicial Appointments). First, reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeal concluded, without citation to authority, that the substantial line of cases establishing parameters for the public's right of access to records held by the judicial branch does not apply to the State Bar because "[t]he Bar is not a court." This assertion fundamentally misunderstands the nature of attorney admissions and the State Bar's constitutional function. Admission to the bar is a judicial function of this Court's inherent and primary regulatory powers. The State Bar, as a judicial branch agency under Article VI of the Constitution, is an integral part of that judicial function. (In re Rose (2000) 22 Cal.4th 430, 438 [93 Cal.Rptr.2d 298] ["The State Bar is a constitutional entity, placed within the judicial article of the California Constitution, and thus expressly acknowledged as an integral part of the judicial function."]; In Re Attorney Discipline System (1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 593, 599 [79 Cal.Rptr.2d 836].)

The Court of Appeal failed to recognize that the action of the State Bar in admissions matters cannot be divorced from the action of this Court, and that the State Bar's sole function with respect to admissions is as this Court's administrative arm. Thus, the State Bar is as much part of this

Court for purpose of admissions as a court clerk, jury commissioner, or other administrative adjunct to a court. Like the records of those other administrative arms of courts, the State Bar's records are judicial records subject to a relatively narrow common law right of access as compared to the records of the executive and legislative branches.

Second, having rejected application of the standards for judicial branch records, the Court of Appeals did not replace them with any recognized common law standard for determining which State Bar documents are "public records." Even under the common law applicable to non-judicial branch entities, not all documents in the possession of a public agency are common law "public records" subject to presumptive access. As the United States Court of Appeals held after surveying jurisdictions nationwide, the common law definition of a public record is generally held to be "a government document created and kept for the purpose of memorializing or recording an official action, decision, statement, or other matter of legal significance, broadly conceived." (Washington Legal Foundation v. U.S. Sentencing Com'n (D.C. Cir. 1996) 89 F.3d 897, 905.) The admissions database simply does not meet this definition, or any other accepted common law definition of public record.

Instead, the Court of Appeals implicitly accepted Appellants' errant argument that the common law right of access is equivalent to the much broader access created by the Public Records Act. That view is

unsupported by case authority and is inconsistent with the reason for enactment of freedom of information statutes. The Public Records Act was not enacted merely to enshrine the common law right, but "for the purpose of increasing freedom of information by giving members of the public access to information in the possession of public agencies." (Filarsky v. Superior Court (2002) 28 Cal.4th 419, 425 [121 Cal.Rptr.2d 844].) However, the judicial branch (including the State Bar) was expressly exempted from this expanded right of access. (Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (f).) Judicially creating "common law" to include as broad a right of access as provided by the Public Records Act is totally inconsistent with that exemption. Indeed, if the common law already provided a presumptive right to all information in the possession of the government, there would have been no need for FOIA, the Public Records Act, the Brown Act, or the many other examples of statutory expansion of the right to access government documents or information.

In addition, although not even suggested by Appellants, the Court of Appeal opined that Evidence Code section 1040 somehow establishes a test for production of records to the public. That is also plain error. The Evidence Code controls the discovery and admission of evidence in litigation. It has no bearing whatsoever on the public's right to make public records requests.

By asserting that the admissions database is a public record without any definition or standard, the Court of Appeal's Opinion subjects the State Bar to innumerable standard-less requests for access to heretofore confidential records. Essentially, the Court of Appeal has created a virgin field for records lawsuits against the State Bar and similar judicial branch entities. Each new records request will have to be litigated on a document-by-document basis, subjecting the State Bar and the other judicial branch entities like it to an explosion of expensive litigation and concomitant attorneys' fee awards. The whole point of the common law test is to avoid such expensive "balancing" with respect to documents, like the admissions database, that do not memorialize or record any official government action.

Finally, Appellants also argued that even if the common law did not presume public access to the State Bar's admissions database, Proposition 59 created a new presumptive right to such data. The Court of Appeal did not reach this issue. This Court should not only reverse the Court of Appeal's erroneous interpretation of the common law, but also hold that Proposition 59 does not create a new right of public access to these admissions records.

The first such lawsuit, seeking non-public disciplinary records of two district attorney candidates, was filed on July 12, 2011. (*Metropolitan News-Enterprise v. Matsumoto, State Bar of California* (Super. Ct. L.A. County No. BS132821).)

Each of these presents an important question of law. Clarity concerning these issues is important not only to resolve the right of access to the State Bar's admissions database, but to the State Bar's and similar judicial branch entities' ability to respond to future public access requests and avoid unnecessary and unguided litigation on a request-by-request basis. Review is thus also appropriate under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).

III. BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Beginning in 2006, Appellants asked the State Bar to provide them with 16 fields of data (including race, academic record, and Bar Exam scores) for every person who applied to take the Bar Examination from 1972-2007. (Appendix of Exhibits of Appellants ["AA"] tabs 6-7 [pp. 43-52], 13 [pp. 148-151], and 16-17 [pp. 165-202].) Appellants seek this data for their study of admissions practices of "elite" law schools,² and claim that the data can be "clustered" so that individual applicants are not

Professor Sander is a proponent of what he calls the "mis-match" theory, wherein he argues that "aggressive racial preferences that many law schools use in admissions" lead "[u]pper-and-middle tier law schools ... to admit black students whose LSAT scores and undergraduate grades are significantly lower than those of their non-Hispanic white classmates" such that "blacks and Hispanics are likely to struggle to keep up with the instruction aimed at the majority of the students who were admitted with higher academic credentials" and thus "blacks and Hispanics get lower grades and actually learn less than they would at a less elite school." (Sander's "Proposal for analyses of state bar data", A.A. tab 6, pp. 43-45.)

identifiable.³ (*Ibid.*) Of course, the purpose for which the data is sought is irrelevant to determining whether the data is a public record, because once a public record is produced it must be given to any member of the public who wants it. (*City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1008, 1018 [88 Cal.Rptr.2d 552].) The State Bar therefore declined to provide the requested data, which had been collected confidentially. (AA tabs 44 [pp. 384-85], 45 [p. 396], 46 [p. 404], 47 [p. 408], and tab 103 [p. 1259].)

Appellants petitioned this Court for access to these records. That petition was denied "without prejudice to re-filing in an appropriate court." (*Sander v. State Bar*, S165765.) Appellants then re-filed their petition in the San Francisco Superior Court. (AA tab 3.)

The parties agreed to a bifurcated trial in two phases: first, a determination of whether the admissions database is a public record subject to presumptive disclosure, and second, if so, whether there is any countervailing policy or fact that prevented disclosure. (AA tab 38, pp. 335-36) After a bench trial on the first phase, Judge Karnow of the San Francisco Superior Court determined that the admissions database is: (1)

Appellants assume a lack of identifiability will eliminate any privacy concern. (AA tab 16, p. 167.) However, this Court has recognized one of the principal "mischiefs" the right to privacy is intended to protect against is "the improper use of information properly obtained for a specific purpose, for example ... the disclosure of it to some third party..." (White v. Davis (1975) 13 Cal.3d 757, 775 [120 Cal.Rptr. 94]; see Cal. Const., art. I, § 1.)

not a public record subject to presumptive disclosure under the common law; and also (2) not subject to presumptive disclosure under Proposition 59. (AA tab 124.)

The Court of Appeal reversed, finding that access to State Bar documents is not governed by the common law principles applicable to the judicial branch, but instead finding that the State Bar is subject to an undefined "long standing common law presumption of access." The Court of Appeal ordered that the matter be remanded for determination of the phase two questions of whether some countervailing policy or fact prevents disclosure. The State Bar unsuccessfully sought rehearing. The State Bar now respectfully requests this Court to review the matter which, at its core, concerns whether the public has a right to review the admissions data maintained by the State Bar for this Court as the Court's administrative arm.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE POLICY DETERMINATION REGARDING THE RECORDS AT ISSUE BELONGS TO THIS COURT

This case presents an issue of particular importance to this Court because the records at issue are subject to the ultimate control and policy determinations of this Court. Although the State Bar is a separate legal entity, in its role in the attorney admissions process it is not to act

independently, but as an arm of this Court. The records at issue are created and maintained solely in that capacity.

The Court of Appeal mistakenly refers to the State Bar as "overseeing attorney admission to the practice of law." (Slip Op. p. 10.)

Only this Court has the power to admit attorneys in California. This Court retains its "preexisting powers to regulate and control the attorney admission and disciplinary system ... at every step." (*Obrien v. Jones* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 40, 48 [96 Cal.Rptr.2d 205].) The State Bar's sole role in admissions is that of "an administrative assistant to or adjunct of" this Court. (*Saleeby v. State Bar* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 547, 557 [216 Cal.Rptr. 367].)

The State Bar thus acts as "an arm or a branch of the Supreme Court" in connection with admissions. (*Greene v. Zank* (1984) 158

Cal.App.3d 497, 504 [204 Cal.Rptr. 770].) "Admission to the bar is a *judicial function*, and members of the bar are *officers of the court*, subject to discipline by the court. Hence, under the constitutional doctrine of separation of powers, the court has inherent and *primary regulatory power*. (*In Re Attorney Discipline System, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 593 [original italics].) The State Bar is "acknowledged as an integral part of the judicial function" of this Court. (*Id.*, at p. 599.)⁴ The State Bar's admissions

Other courts have recognized that the functions of a state bar in administering bar admissions cannot be divorced from the state supreme

activity is thus conducted on behalf of, and controlled by, this Court. (*Id.* at pp. 599-600 ["We have described the bar as a 'public corporation created ... as an administrative arm of this court for the purpose of assisting in matters of admission and discipline of attorneys."].)

Consistent with the State Bar's role as this Court's arm, this Court has exclusive and original jurisdiction over any claims against the State Bar that involve the admissions process or admissions policies. (*Smith v. State Bar* (1989) 212 Cal.App.3d 971, 978 [261 Cal.Rptr. 24] [challenges to admissions policies must be made to the Supreme Court in the first instance]; see *In Re Attorney Discipline System, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 602 [reaffirming the Court's "primary policy-making role and its responsibility" in matters concerning admissions and lawyer discipline].)⁵ More generally, the superior courts have no power over this Court or, by extension, its arms. (Cf *Copley Press, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 106, 116 [7

_

court's exercise of its inherent power to license attorneys. (*Hoover v. Ronwin* (1994) 466 U.S. 558, 570-574 [104 S.Ct. 1989] [actions of the Bar in admissions cannot be separated from the Supreme Court's exercise of its sovereign judicial powers]; *Bates v. State Bar of Arizona* (1977) 433 U.S. 350, 360-61 [97 S.Ct. 2691]; see also *Levanti v. Tippen* (S.D. Cal. 1984) 585 F. Supp. 499, 504 [State Bar functioning as an arm of the California Supreme Court in attorney admissions is protected by the same cloak of absolute judicial immunity worn by that tribunal."].)

This Court acknowledged in *In Re Attorney Discipline System, supra*, 19 Cal. 4th at 603, that the sound policy is not "to fragment the authority to discipline lawyers." This applies equally to its authority over admissions policies.

Cal.Rptr.2d 841] (hereinafter *Copley Press I*) ["One superior court judge has no power to require another to perform a judicial act...."]; cf. *Jacobs v. State Bar* (1977) 20 Cal.3d 191, 197-98 [141 Cal.Rptr. 812] [superior court had no jurisdiction over determining what records must be disclosed to an attorney under investigation by the State Bar except in the very limited situation where the State Bar seeks to enforce a subpoena under the narrow statutory authority provided by Business and Professions Code section 6051].)

The claims in this case seek production of records that are functionally the records of this Court, and which relate to the attorney admissions process over which this Court has plenary and exclusive jurisdiction. Although this case does not involve a decision affecting the admission to practice law of an individual applicant, Appellants' demand for data directly calls into question the State Bar's admissions policies designating information collected from applicants as confidential. Moreover, a right to compel the State Bar to produce admissions records directly calls into question the State Bar's admissions policies limiting what information people, including applicants, can review concerning the

^{6 (}Rules of State Bar, rule 4.4.)

admissions process.⁷ That determination is a policy decision that only this Court can make under its primary and inherent authority over attorney admissions. (See *Bester v. Louisiana Supreme Court Committee on Bar Admissions* (La. 2001) 779 So.2d 715, 721-22 [Bar admissions records are records of the state supreme court and only that court has inherent, sovereign authority to determine whether such records are subject to public review].) The State Bar respectfully suggests that this Court confirm that it is the only court with jurisdiction over records concerning attorney admissions.

- B. THE STATE BAR'S ADMISSIONS DATABASE IS NOT A
 PUBLIC RECORD UNDER THE COMMON LAW
 - 1. The Court of Appeal's Opinion Erroneously Subjects
 The State Bar And Several Other Judicial Branch
 Agencies To A Broad, Undefined Presumption Of
 Disclosure Without Any Of The Limits Applied To
 The Rest Of Government

The Court of Appeal appeared to assume that all State Bar records are public records subject to a presumptive common law right of public access. Before discussing the fundamental errors in the Court of Appeal's common law analysis, it is important to recognize the sweeping effect of the Court of Appeal's broad, unprecedented assumption.

[&]quot;Applicants who pass the California Bar Examination are not entitled to receive their examination answers or to see their scores." (Rules of State Bar, rule 4.62(B).)

The judicial branch has always been subject to a different, and more limited, definition of "public records" than the more political executive and legislative branches. This difference is reflected in all of the major public access statutes. Thus the Public Records Act expressly excludes *all* Article VI (judicial branch) agencies from its scope. (Gov. Code, § 6252, subd. (f).) The Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act also expressly excludes *all* Article VI agencies from its scope. (Gov. Code, § 11121.1, subd.(a).) At the federal level, the Freedom of Information Act (hereinafter "FOIA") similarly does not apply to the federal courts. (5 U.S.C. § 551(1)(B).)

The California Constitution provides that the State Bar is part of the judicial branch. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 9.) As a judicial branch entity, the State Bar is thus not subject to the statutory rules for disclosure that apply to the non-judicial branches of California government.

Nor is the State Bar subject to California Rules of Court, rule 10.500, which sets forth the rules and limits on disclosure of judicial branch administrative documents. The State Bar, the Commission on Judicial Performance, and the Commission on Judicial Appointments were not included within the scope of Rule 10.500 because they are not subject to the jurisdiction of the Judicial Council. (AA tab 118, p. 1497.) Instead, as discussed above, as it relates to admissions the State Bar is subject to the exclusive and plenary control of this Court. (*In re Attorney Discipline System, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 601.) This Court, by Rule, could adopt

disclosure requirements for the State Bar, but the lower courts should not be formulating law regarding public access requirements for the documents of this Court's administrative arm.

The resulting effect of the exclusion of the State Bar and other administrative judicial branch entities from Rule 10.500 was to leave in place for these entities the more limited common law standards applicable to records of the judicial branch. Under the Court of Appeal's Opinion, however, the State Bar, and similarly the Commission on Judicial Performance and the Commission on Judicial Appointments, are left with unique vulnerability to public records lawsuits with no clear standard for what they should, or should not, produce.

For example, California Rules of Court, rule 10.500 provides that a judicial branch entity is not required to "compile or assemble data in response to a request..." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 10.500, subd. (e)(1)(B); accord Gov. Code, § 68106.2, subd. (e).) If this rule applied to the State Bar, it would defeat the request in question, which clearly seeks data compiled or assembled in a form in which the State Bar does not presently compile or assemble it. It is wholly illogical for the State Bar to be subject to greater disclosure obligations over its internal data than the rest of the judicial branch.

Similarly, the Public Records Act exempts testing materials from disclosure. (Gov. Code, § 6254, subd. (g).) Does the fact that the State Bar

is not subject to the Public Records Act mean that, unlike all other testing agencies in the state, the State Bar must publicly disclose such materials? Such analysis turns the legislative intent on its head, subjecting the State Bar to broader disclosure obligations than executive branch agencies despite the legislative intent to exclude judicial branch agencies from the heightened duty to disclose created by the Public Records Act. (See *Copley Press I*, *supra*, 6 Cal.App.4th at p. 113.)

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