3

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

# RICHARD SANDER, JOE HICKS, and the CALIFORNIA FIRST AMENDMENT COALITION, Petitioners.

SUPREME COURT

AUG 05 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

v.

Deputy

STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA and the BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE STATE BAR OF CALIFORNIA, *Respondents*.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Three, Appeal No. A128647, on Appeal from the Superior Court of the County of San Francisco, Case No. CPF-08-508880, Hon. Curtis E. A. Karnow

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

# SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners, the State Bar of California and the Board of Governors of the State Bar of California ("State Bar"), seek review of a decision holding that records of the State Bar are subject to the same common law right of access applicable to all other agencies of the state government.

Although it takes issue with the Court of Appeal's decision, the State Bar's principal argument is one presented neither to the Superior Court nor to the Court of Appeal: that the lower courts should never have heard or decided this matter, because it is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of this Court.

Missing from the State Bar's petition is any mention of the fact that this proposition was previously presented to the Court in this action, and that the Court rejected it. The central premise of the petition, therefore, is barred by the law of the case.

Nor is there any other basis for review, at least at this time. There is no conflict in the lower court decisions. The importance of the only legal question addressed by the Court of Appeal—the application of the common law right of access to certain records of the State Bar—remains to be seen. The State Bar's protestations notwithstanding, there is no basis for contending that subjecting it to the public scrutiny that has long applied to all other government institutions is cause for alarm. On the contrary, experience suggests that such scrutiny will be highly beneficial.

Perhaps most fundamentally, there is a substantial question as to whether this Court is disqualified from hearing or deciding the petition.

The State Bar is an arm of the Court. It is subject to the direction and control of the Court. In essence, the Court is a party to this action, or, at a minimum, is an active participant in the affairs of a party. "The Supreme

Court consists of the Chief Justice of California and 6 associate justices." (Cal. Const., Art. 6, § 2.) Therefore, Respondents respectfully submit that each of the Justices of the Court appears to have an obligation to disqualify himself or herself under the Code of Judicial Ethics.

### II. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. The State Bar's Argument that This Court Has Exclusive Jurisdiction Is Barred by the Law of the Case

Although vaguely framed in term of "policy" considerations, the State Bar's principal argument for review is that the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal erred because this Court has "exclusive jurisdiction" over the claims asserted in this action. (Petition for Review, hereafter "Petition," 11-15.) However, this issue was squarely presented to and rejected by the Court in this very action.

Prior to bringing this action in the Superior Court, Respondents filed an original proceeding in this Court, asserting the same claims. (*Richard Sander, et al. v. State Bar of California, et al.*, S165765, filed August 7, 2008.)<sup>1</sup> The explicit basis for that action was precisely the same contention now asserted by the State Bar as justifying review: that this Court has exclusive jurisdiction over review of the State Bar's decision rejecting Respondents' requests for access to its records. (Verified Petition for Mandamus, Certiorari, Prohibition or Other Extraordinary Relief, filed August 7, 2008, 32-33.) Respondents brought the original action in this Court because Petitioners contended that this Court had exclusive

The records of this proceeding are subject to judicial notice pursuant to Evidence Code sections 452 and 453. Respondents' request for judicial notice is submitted herewith.

jurisdiction. And indeed, while arguing that the petition should be denied, the State Bar expressly contended that the Court had exclusive jurisdiction. (Respondents' Preliminary Opposition, filed August 18, 2008, 11.)

This Court did not agree. It denied the original petition, stating: "The petition for writ of mandate or other extraordinary relief is denied without prejudice to re-filing in an appropriate court." (Order, filed September 17, 2008.) In short, this Court itself determined that it did not have exclusive jurisdiction.

"The doctrine of the law of the case is this: That where . . . the reviewing court . . . states in its opinion a principle or rule of law necessary to the decision, that principle or rule becomes the law of the case and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal and . . . in any subsequent suit for the same cause of action . . . ." (*People v. Murtishaw* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 574, 589, quoting *People v. Shuey* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 835, 841.) This is true even if a subsequent panel of the same court believes that the prior decision was erroneous. (*Id.*) In other words, when an appellate court decides "a principle or rule of law necessary to the decision, that principle or rule becomes the law of the case and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal." (*Clemente v. State of California* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 202, 211.) The doctrine applies even though the court concludes that the prior decision was erroneous. (*Id.*, at 211.)

The Court's previous determination that it did not have exclusive jurisdiction is the law of this case. Respondents originally filed this action with the Supreme Court. They have litigated this action through the Superior Court and Court of Appeal as a direct result of the Court's

decision that it did not have exclusive jurisdiction. They may not now be required to start over in this Court.<sup>2</sup>

#### B. There Is No Other Basis for Review

Review by this Court is circumscribed by Rule 8.500(b) of the California Rules of Court Rule, which specifies the circumstances in which the Court may grant review. (Cal. R. of Court 8.500(b).) The only potentially applicable grounds for review in this case, other than lack of jurisdiction, are the need to secure uniformity of decision among the lower courts or settle an important question of law. (*Id.*)

The State Bar identifies no conflict among the lower courts with respect to whether California common law provides the public with a qualified right of access to records relating to the Bar admissions process. There is no such conflict. The decision of the Court of Appeal in this matter is the only one to directly address the application of the common law right of access to records of the State Bar.

Nor is review necessary to settle an important question of law. Prior decisions have made it clear that the common law right of access applies to all agencies of state government. (See, e.g., *Pantos v. City and County of San Francisco* (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 258, 262-263; *Mushet v. Dept. of Public Service* (1917) 35 Cal.App.630, 636-638; *Coldwell v. Bd. of Public* 

There are exceptions to the law of the case. The summary denial of a petition for writ of mandate by a court of appeal may not establish law of the case. (See *Kowis v. Howard* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 888.) However, the Court's action on Respondents' petition was not a summary denial of a writ petition. Rather, it was a decision by this Court in an original proceeding addressing precisely the same claims. In denying the original petition and directing Respondents to re-file it in the "appropriate court," the Court necessarily determined that it does not have exclusive jurisdiction. Therefore, this exception to the law of the case doctrine does not apply.

Works (1921) 187 Cal. 510, 520-521; Craemer v. Superior Court (1968) 265 Cal.App.2d 216, 220, fn. 3; Kyberg v. Perkins (1856) 6 Cal. 674.) The Court of Appeals' decision simply extends these precedents to the State Bar. Thus, the question of law presented by the Court of Appeal's decision is already well-settled.

In any event, public scrutiny of other governmental agencies, all of which are subject to one or more rights of access, has not impaired their operation. On the contrary, this Court has recognized the beneficial effects of public scrutiny. (*Brian W. v. Superior Court* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 618, 625, 622-623 [recognizing "the salutary function served by the press in encouraging the fairness of trials and subjecting the administration of justice to the beneficial effects of public scrutiny"]; *NBC Subsidiary* (*KNBC-TV*), *Inc. v. Superior Court* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1178, 1210 ["We believe that the public has an interest . . . in observing and assessing the performance of its public judicial system, and that interest strongly supports a general right of access . . . "].) Therefore, the possibility of litigation seeking to subject the State Bar to further scrutiny is not a reason for granting review, but rather for denying it.

# C. The Justices of the Court Are Apparently Disqualified from Hearing or Deciding the Merits of the Petition

Canon 3(E) of the Code of Judicial Ethics specifies the circumstances in which disqualification is required. As amended by this Court, it applies to the Justices of this court, as it does to judges and justices of the lower courts. (Code of Judicial Ethics, Canon 3(E)(4); Press Release No. 68, California Supreme Court, Supreme Court Amends Cannons on Recusal, Disqualification of Appellate Justices (Dec. 13, 2000).)

Canon 3(E) requires a Justice to disqualify herself or himself in the following situations, among others:

- A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in any proceeding in which disqualification is required by law;
- The circumstances are such that a reasonable person aware of the facts would doubt the justice's ability to be impartial; and
- The appellate justice . . . is a director, advisor, or other active participant in the affairs of a party.

(Code of Judicial Ethics, Canon 3(E)(1), 3(E)(4)(c), 3(E)(5)(d).) "Canon 3(E)(1) sets forth the general duty to disqualify applicable to a judge of any court. Sources for determining when recusal or disqualification is appropriate may include . . . other provisions of the Code of Judicial Ethics . . . ." (Code of Judicial Ethics, Cannon 3(E), Advisory Committee Comments.) "Canon 3E(4) sets forth the general standards for recusal of an appellate justice. The term 'appellate justice' includes justices of both the Courts of Appeal and the Supreme Court." (*Id.*)

It appears to Respondents that, in the unique circumstances of this case, the Justices of the Court are required to disqualify themselves. In matters of admission, the State Bar acts as an "arm" of the Supreme Court. (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 6064, 6075, 6078; *In re Rose* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 430, 439; *Saleeby v. State Bar* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 547, 557-558 (*Saleeby*).) The Court retains ultimate authority over matters of attorney admission and discipline. (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 6064, 6076, 6100; *Saleeby*, *supra*, 39 Cal.3d at p. 557.) Thus, the State Bar is an extension of the Supreme Court. (See, e.g., *In re Attorney Discipline* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 582, 600 [in the areas of admissions and discipline "the bar's role has consistently been

articulated as that of an administrative assistant to or adjunct of this court . . . . "]; *Saleeby*, *supra*, 39 Cal.3d at p. 557 [same].)

The State Bar itself insists that it is "an arm of this Court," and is "as much a part of this Court . . . as a court clerk, jury commissioner, or other administrative adjunct to a court." (Petition, 12, 5-6.) "The Supreme Court consists of the Chief Justice of California and 6 associate justices." (Cal. Const., Art. 6, § 2.) In other words, the Justices of this Court *are* the Supreme Court. Hence, each of the Justices of this Court is a "director, advisor, or other active participant in the affairs" of the State Bar. As a result, this case presents circumstances that would cause any reasonable person to "doubt the justice's ability to be impartial." Under the Code of Judicial Ethics, it therefore appears that each of the Justices has a duty to disqualify himself or herself.

Respondents urge the Court to carefully consider whether it can hear and determine the merits of the petition in a manner consistent with the Code of Judicial Ethics. Under Cannon E(4)(c), a Justice must disqualify himself or herself if "the circumstances are such that a reasonable person aware of the facts would doubt the justice's ability to be impartial." A decision is void if rendered through the participation of a judge or justice whose disqualification is apparent from the record. (*Giometti v. Etienne* (1934) 219 Cal. 687, 689. Accord, *Christie v. City of El Centro* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 767, 776, 779-780; *In re Harrington* (1948) 87 Cal.App.2d 831, 834-35.) There are means for addressing the petition and determining whether review should be granted even if all of the Justices of this Court recuse themselves. (*See, e.g., Carma Developers (California), Inc. v. Marathon Development Corp.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 342, 350, fn. 1.)

In any event, it is not necessary for the Court to hear or decide the petition. The petition presents no issues that merit review, and review should be denied for that reason alone.

# III. ADDITIONAL ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED IF REVIEW IS GRANTED

Respondents do not agree with the State Bar's characterization of the issues presented. What the State Bar describes as issues are merely arguments, and do not accurately reflect the subject matter or conclusions of the Court of Appeal's decision. If the Court grants review, is should specify the issues to be briefed and argued. (Cal. R. of Court 8.516(a).) In doing so, it should determine whether the following additional issues should be addressed:

- 1. Whether the State Bar's assertion that this Court has exclusive jurisdiction over the claims asserted by Respondents is barred by the law of the case, and whether it has been waived.
- 2. Whether the Justices of this Court should disqualify themselves from the hearing or determination of the petition.

### IV. CONCLUSION

The State Bar's primary argument has been considered and rejected by the Court. Neither this nor any other issue raised by the State Bar merits review. Were the Court to consider granting review, it would need to determine whether the Justices of the Court are disqualified. Respondents respectfully request that the petition for review be denied.